IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 22-0428

BRADLEY MEACHAM, ET AL,

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

V.

CHRISTOPHER SULLIVAN,



Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

(On Appeal From an Order of the Honorable Debra McLaughlin; Circuit Court of Jefferson County, West Virginia; Case No. CC-19-2021-C-136)

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Matthew R. Whitler, Esq. (WV State Bar No. 7628)

PULLIN, FOWLER, FLANAGAN, BROWN & POE, PLLC
261 Aikens Center, Suite 301

Martinsburg, West Virginia 25404

Telephone: 304.260.1200

Counsel for Todd Kent, Mark Spessert, Christopher Kutcher, and the City of Charles Town

Keith C. Gamble, Esq. (WV State Bar No. 7971)

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The circuit court erred by failing to dismiss the Officer Defendants on the grounds of qualified immunity.
- 2. The circuit court erred by not dismissing all the respondent superior claims against the City of Ranson and the City of Charles Town on the basis of qualified immunity.
- 3. The circuit court erred by not dismissing the Officer Defendants as to the assault and battery claims.
- 4. The circuit court erred by not dismissing the *respondeat superior* claims for battery against Chief Roper and Chief Kutcher under qualified immunity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Respondent Christopher Sullivan (hereinafter called the "Respondent," or "Respondent Sullivan"), filed his *Amended Complaint* against a vast array of Defendants on September 27, 2021. The *Amended Complaint* alleges on the night of September 28, 2019, the Respondent observed the police vehicles of officers Bradley Meacham (a police officer with the

City of Ranson) and Sergeant Mark Spessert (an officer with the City of Charles Town) parked in parking spots, but not in parking spaces, while the officers were responding to a vehicle break-in call at Plaintiff's apartment complex. *Appx. P. 24*. The Amended Complaint maintains, while Respondent was driving past the officers, Respondent made remarks out his window to the officers about their parking while at the location. *Id.* Following these events, Respondent alleges a verbal altercation proceeded to occur between the Respondent and Officer Meacham. *Appx. P. 24-25*.

During the verbal exchange, Respondent Sullivan was warned by Officer Meacham to stop loudly cursing at the officers, or else Respondent would be arrested for Disorderly Conduct. *Appx. P.* 25. Respondent Sullivan started to walk away while continuing to argue with Officer Meacham using profane language. *Id.*. The Respondent was at this point placed under arrest by Officer Meacham. *Appx. P.* 25. Respondent Sullivan asserts that two sets of handcuffs were used to restrain him, one of the sets coming from Officer Spessert. *Appx. P.* 26. Respondent asserts, while being transported to the police vehicle, Officer Meacham used a leg sweep to take him to the ground after he asked the officers to pick up his belongings. Respondent further alleges, despite his requests, the officers did not contact or seek medical assistance for him. *Id.*

Respondent Sullivan was arrested for Disorderly Conduct. During his arrest the officers detected an odor of alcohol on Respondent prompting them to reasonably suspect a possible DUI. Respondent rejected the request for a field sobriety test, and the officers understood this as a refusal of the preliminary breathalyzer test. *Appx. P.* 27. Respondent argues he was not lawfully arrested because he did not affirmatively refuse the preliminary or secondary chemical breath tests, and he was not given paperwork to explain the penalties for refusing a breath test. *Id.* The Respondent claims he was further harassed and verbally abused by Officers Kent (employed by the City of Charles Town) and Hosby-Brown (employed by the City of Ranson). *Appx. P.* 29. Respondent

Sullivan was eventually cleared of all charges against him arising from the September 28, 2019 incident.

The Respondent's Amended Complaint named ten separate Defendants: Meacham, Hosby-Brown, Ranson Police Chief William Roper, the City of Ranson, and the Ranson Police Department (the "Ranson Defendants"), as well as Kent, Spessert, Charles Town Police Chief Christopher Kutcher, the City of Charles Town, and the Charles Town Police Department (the "Charles Town Defendants"). For the purposes of succinctly briefing this joint appeal, the police officer Petitioners (namely Defendants Meacham, Hosby-Brown, Kent and Spessert) of both departments will be collectively called the "Officer Defendants" and the Petitioner cities of Ranson and Charles Town will be collectively called the "City Defendants." The Officer Defendants and the City Defendants will thus collectively be referred to as the "Petitioners."

The Amended Complaint brought causes of action against the Petitioners for the torts of:

- -Common-Law Assault: (Meacham, City of Ranson),
- -Common-Law Battery: (Meacham, Roper, City of Ranson, Spessert, Kutcher, City of Charles Town);
 - -Outrageous Conduct: (Meacham, Roper, City of Ranson);
- -Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress: (Meacham, Hosby-Brown, Roper, City of Ranson, Kent);
- -Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress: (Meacham, Hosby-Brown, Roper, City of Ranson, Kent);
 - -Malicious Prosecution: (Meacham, City of Ranson, Ranson Police Department);
- -General Negligence: (Meacham, Roper, City of Ranson, Spessert, Kutcher, City of Charles Town);

-Gross Negligence: (Meacham, Roper, City of Ranson);

-Negligence in Employment: (Roper, City of Ranson, Ranson Police Department, Kutcher, City of Charles Town); and

-Failure to Intervene: (Hosby-Brown, City of Ranson, Ranson Police Department, Spessert, Kent, City of Charles Town, Charles Town Police Department).

In addition to the above causes of action, the Respondent's *Amended Complaint* also asserted various *Respondent Superior* claims against the City of Ranson, the City of Charles Town, the Ranson Police Department, and the Charles Town Police Department related to the allegations towards the Officer Defendants.

The Charles Town Defendants and the Ranson Defendants filed separate *Motions to Dismiss* on November 2, 2021 and November 23, 2021, respectively. After these matters were fully briefed, the Circuit Court partially granted and partially denied the Petitioners' respective Motions to Dismiss on May 3, 2022. The Circuit Court's *Order* dismissed Defendants Ranson Police Department and Charles Town Police Department. The Circuit Court *Order* also dismissed the Respondent's claims for punitive damages. The Circuit Court *Order* did not dismiss any other named parties; leaving Officer Defendants (Meacham, Hosby-Brown, Kent, Spessert, Chief Roper, Chief Kutcher), and both of the City Defendants (City of Ranson and City of Charles Town), thus the joint Petitioners in this appeal. The Circuit Court held in its Order that

The Officer Defendants are not entitled to qualified immunity and the Cities are subject to liability under respondeat superior because the conduct was within the scope of the officers' official duties.

Appx. P. 269. This was because the Circuit Court found that:

the alleged actions of the officer defendants set forth sufficient details for the third step to show that the Governmental Tort Claims

Act under W.VA. CODE §29-12A-5 (2002) does not apply. Specifically, Plaintiff alleged that

- Officer Meacham initiated the confrontation resulting the arrest,
- Officers Meacham, Kent, and Hosby-Brown made threats of physical force against Sullivan,
- All of the officers used excessive force against Sullivan (who was not resisting arrest or attempting to flee),
- All the officers refused to provide medical care when Plaintiff was bleeding from his head, and
- That Officer Meacham filed a DMV report without sufficient cause.

These allegations each describe situations where an officer is acting outside of providing "law enforcement protection" and is instead committing "individual act[s] of ... negligence." (Citation omitted) Accordingly, the Governmental Tort Claims Acts does not apply.

Appx. P. 269-270.

The Circuit Court's Order also held, while the Plaintiff's Complaint did allege that the Officer Defendants' decision were discretionary, the Complaint also alleged that "the officers ...

...were fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive during the arrest and that the arrest exceeded Fourth Amendment standards. Furthermore, the Complaint alleges that a reasonable person would have known that the officers' conduct was fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive.

Appx. P. 270. On this finding, the Circuit Court declined to dismiss the charges against any of the Officer Defendants on qualified immunity grounds.

Pertaining to the Assault and Battery allegations, the Circuit Court Order further stated that:

The Charles Town Defendants also move for dismissal of Plaintiff's claims for assault and battery against Officer Defendants because as

a matter of law they were privileged to engage in the conduct alleged in the Complaint.

Specifically, they argued that the Complaint fails to plead any facts establishing that Defendant Spessert intended and caused harmful or offensive contact, or that Spessert or Kutcher had contact with Plaintiff. Meanwhile, the Ranson Defendants have not moved for dismissal for the allegations of battery and assault against their Officers.

Appx. P. 273. While the Circuit Court Order on page 15 granted the Motion to Dismiss to the Cities of Ranson and Charles Town and the police chiefs on qualified immunity grounds pertaining to the respondent superior allegations, the Circuit Court Order continues on to reassert claims against the same parties:

The Plaintiff never alleges that Chief Kutcher or the City of Charles Town made any offensive contact with Plaintiff. The only instance where Sgt. Spessert is alleged to have had some form of contact with Plaintiff is when he was placing handcuffs on him. The Court FINDS that the law enforcement privilege extends to the act of placing handcuffs on a person being detained because officers may use reasonable force to effectuate a detention. Furthermore, "[n]ot every push or shove, even if it may later seem unnecessary in peace of judge's chambers, violates Fourth Amendment; rather, calculates of reasonableness must embody allowance for the fact that police officers are often forced to make split-second judgments, in circumstance that are tense, uncertain, and rapidly evolving, about amount of force that is necessary in the situation. Syl. 22 Hutchison v. Huntington, 198 W.Va. 139, 479 S.E.2nd 649 (1996).

ACCORDINGLY, the Charles Town Defendant's Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED only to the extent of a failure to properly train as to Sgt. Spessert, Chief Kutcher, and the City of Charles Town, but not under the other theories of liability under Count II, Common Law Battery.

Appx. P. 273-274.

Concerning all grounds raised by the City of Ranson Defendants in their Motion to Dismiss, the Circuit Court *Order* held that

The Ranson Defendants argue that Plaintiff's allegations are contradictory under the battery claim as to Chief Roper and the City of Ranson because they separately allege negligence and intentional torts from the same conduct. However, the Court has previously allowed Plaintiffs to pursue independent claims for intentional torts and negligence against law enforcement even if the claims arise from the same facts because the elements of the intentional tort and the negligence claim are separate and are therefore not barred under collateral estoppel. *Neiswonger v. Hennessy*, 215 W.Va. 749, 601 S.E.2d 69, 73-74 (2004).

ACCORDINGLY, Plaintiff is entitled to allege claims of negligence and intentional torts from the same facts, and Defendant's Motion to Dismiss are DENIED.

Appx. P. 274.

Respondent Sullivan filed a Motion for Default Judgment in the Circuit Court on May 27, 2022, to which the Petitioners jointly responded in opposition on June 10, 2022. The Petitioners timely filed their joint Notice of Appeal to this Supreme Court on June 3, 2022. The Petitioners also timely filed their joint Motion to Stay Proceedings Pending Appeal to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals in the Circuit Court on June 3, 2022. The Respondent's Motion for Default Judgment and the Petitioners' Motion to Stay Proceedings have both been fully briefed, and the Circuit Court has granted the Motion to Stay in an order dated July 6, 2022.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First, the Circuit Court erred by failing to dismiss the Officer Defendants on the grounds of qualified immunity. The allegations contained in the *Amended Complaint* clearly arise from the discretionary acts in the performance of their duties as police officers. According to the West Virginia qualified immunity doctrine, government officials, including police officers, performing discretionary functions are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does

not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known. *Pearson v. Callahan*, 555 U.S. 223, 231, 129 S.Ct. 808, 815 (2009) (quoting *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800, 818, 102 S.Ct. 2727, 2738 (1982)). If an officer is required to make decisions in their job that require them to exercise their judgment and discretion through actions, and if the decision and actions are within the scope of their duty, authority, and jurisdiction, then the official is entitled to qualified immunity. Syl. pt. 4, *Clark v. Dunn*, 195 W.Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 374 (1995). As the Circuit Court failed to properly apply the legal standards for qualified immunity under the requite heightened pleading standard under *Hutchinson v. City of Huntington*, 198 W.Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996), the Plaintiff's Amended Complaint was not dismissed as to the Officer Defendants.

Second, while the Court did find the City of Ranson and City of Charles Town are immune from the *respondeat superior* claims alleged in the *Amended Complaint* because the City Defendants are immune from vicarious liability for the acts and omissions of their employees pursuant to W.Va. Code §29-12A-1, *et seq.*, the Order then still maintains all theories of liability against them under Common Law Battery. The Tort Claims Act confers absolute immunity to political subdivisions in particular for the intentional torts of their employees pursuant to §29-12A-4(b)(1). *Zirkle v. Elkins Rd. Pub. Serv. Dist.*, 221 W.Va. 409, 414 655 S.E.2d 155, 160 (2007). Furthermore, federal courts have held in their interpretation of West Virginia law, the grant of immunity to political subdivisions for the negligent acts of their employees from *Albert v. City of Wheeling*, 238 W.Va. 129, 132, 792 S.E.2d 628, 631 (2016) applies to law enforcement employees in addition to fire personnel. *Taylor v. Clay County Sheriff's Dept.*, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 30577, *15-16 (S.D.W.Va. 2020). The Respondent's *Amended Complaint* couches only intentional torts, attempting to disguise the same as negligence claims despite Respondent stating they all derived

from the supposed willful and malicious conduct of the Officer Defendants. However, a "mere allegation of negligence does not turn an intentional tort into negligent conduct." *Weigle v. Pifer*, 139 F. Supp. 3d 760, 781 (S.D.W.VA. 2015). "An action for a willful injury is not supported by a finding that the injury was the result of gross negligence." *Turk v. Norfolk & W. Ry. Co.*, 75 W.Va. 623, 624, 84 S.E. 569, 570 (1915). As the Circuit Court's *Order* failed to properly apply the Tort Claims Act in conferring immunity to the City Defendants as political subdivisions, the *Order* was mistaken and should be overturned.

Third, the Circuit Court erred by not dismissing the Officer Defendants as to the assault and battery claims of the *Amended Complaint*. The *Order* of May 5, 2022 correctly found, as the Respondent was placed under arrest at an active crime scene, the Officer Defendants had the liberty of making contact with the Respondent to safely and properly effectuate the arrest. However, despite this finding the Circuit Court failed to dismiss the assault and battery claims against the individual Officer Defendants. Additionally, as previously stated, all of Respondents' various claims are essentially intentional tort claims for which they are absolutely immune under the Tort Claims Act. Because of the ruling that the contact was privileged, because of the previously explained qualified immunity of the Officer Defendants, and because of the immunity granted by the Tort Claims Act, the Circuit Court's *Order* should be overruled, and the assault and battery claims against the Officer Defendants be properly dismissed.

Fourth, the circuit court erred by not dismissing the Respondent's respondent superior claims for battery against Chief Roper and Chief Kutcher. Since the Respondent has alleged that the Officer Defendants' actions and omissions were intentional, and since the negligence claims derive from alleged intentional acts, the Chiefs cannot be held liable pursuant to W.Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5) as well as the holdings of *Brooks v. Weirton*, 202 W.Va. 246, 503 S.E.2d 814

(1998), Albert v. City of Wheeling, supra, and C.C. v. Harrison Cty. Bd. of Educ., 245 W.Va. 594, 606, 859 S.E.2d 762, 774 (2021). The Circuit Court Order goes into scant detail about why the Respondent's claims of vicarious liability for battery against the police chiefs were preserved in the absence of the Respondent showing any clear evidence of statutory or constitutional rights violations. Respondent's Amended Complaint does not adequately plead grounds sufficient for imposing vicarious liability against the police chiefs. Therefore, the Circuit Court's order should be overturned and all the vicarious liability claims against Chief Roper and Chief Kutcher be properly dismissed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioners submit that oral argument is unnecessary as the record below is clear, the questions presented have been authoritatively decided by this Honorable Court, and the facts and legal arguments on behalf of the Petitioners to overrule the Circuit Court's rulings have been adequately presented in the Petitioners' Brief and the record below. Furthermore, affirmance by memorandum decision pursuant to *West Virginia R.A.P.* 21(c) would be appropriate. If the Court in its discretion determines that oral argument would be appropriate and will be held, however, Petitioners would suggest that this case would be suitable for Rule 19 argument, as a case involving a claim of unsustainable exercise of discretion where the law governing that discretion is settled. *West Virginia R.A.P.* 19(a)(1)-(2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. De Novo Standard

A "circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the "collateral order" doctrine." W. Virginia Bd. of Educ. v. Marple, 236 W.Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015). This Court reviews such a denial of a motion to dismiss de novo. Syl. Pt. 4, Ewing v. Bd. of Educ. of Cnty. of Summers, 202 W.Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998).

2. Rule 12(b)(6) Standard

Under Rule 12(b)(6), a party may move for dismissal of a complaint for "failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." W.Va. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). "[T]he purpose of a motion to dismiss is to test the formal sufficiency of the complaint." Footnote 11, *Davis v. Eagle Coal and Dock Co.*, 220 W.Va. 18, 21, 640 S.E.2d 81, 84 (2006). Dismissal for failure to state a claim is proper where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations in the complaint. Syl. Pt. 3, *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co. Inc.*, 160 W.Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977). The singular purpose of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is to seek a determination as to whether the plaintiff is entitled to offer evidence to support claims made in the complaint. *Dimon v. Mansy*, 198 W.Va. 40, 47, 479 S.E.2d 339, 346 (1996).

"For purposes of the motion to dismiss, the complaint is construed in the light most favorable to plaintiff, and its allegations are to be taken as true." *John W. Lodge Distrib. Co., Inc. v. Texaco, Inc.*, 161 W.Va. 603, 605, 245 S.E.2d 157, 158 (1978). However, to survive a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff's complaint must "at a minimum . . . set forth sufficient information to outline the elements of his claim." *Price v. Halstead*, 177 W.Va. 592, 594, 355 S.E.2d 380, 383 (1987).

3. Heightened Pleading Standard

Although Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure is broad and Rule 8 only requires mere notice pleading for most civil pleading in West Virginia, "a plaintiff may not 'fumble around searching for a meritorious claim within the elastic boundaries of a barebones complaint..." State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc., 194 W.Va. 770, 776, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995).

Moreover, "in civil actions where immunities are implicated, the trial court must insist on heightened pleading by the plaintiff." *Hutchison*, supra, 198 W.Va. at 149, 479 S.E.2d at 659. The determination of claims of immunity is a question of law for courts to decide:

Immunities under West Virginia law are more than a defense to a suit in that they grant governmental bodies and public officials the right not to be subject to the burden of trial at all. The very heart of the immunity defense is that it spares the defendant from having to go forward with an inquiry into the merits of the case.

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