FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

BRADLEY MEACHAM, ET AL,
Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

DOCKET NO: 22-0428

CHRISTOPHER SULLIVAN,
Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Michael T. Logsdon, II (WVSB #14077) Sutton & Janelle, PLLC 224 W. King Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 (304) 267-0904 (304) 267-0906 facsimile Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should uphold the Circuit Court's decision to

partially grant and partially deny Petitioners' Motions to Dismiss. West Virginia's immunity laws shield officials when they perform their duties reasonably. However, this shield is not so impenetrable as to require tolerance of fraudulent, malicious, and intentional wrongdoing. It protects officials performing their duties reasonably and holds accountable those abusing power.

1000

The first issue on appeal is whether Respondent sufficiently alleged that Officer Defendants were not entitled to qualified immunity. In every immunity case involving a motion to dismiss, the defendant must demonstrate that the plaintiff failed to meet the requisite heightened pleading standard, i.e., that a government official engaged in fraudulent, malicious, or intentional wrongdoing or violated an established statutory or constitutional right. The Circuit Court correctly determined that Petitioners failed to demonstrate that no legally cognizable claim for relief exists.

The second issue on appeal is whether Charles Town and Ranson are liable for the individual, negligent acts of their employees. Petitioners make two incorrect claims to justify their argument. First, Petitioners claim that political subdivisions are not liable for the intentional or negligent acts of their employees. See Pet'rs' Br. at 11. Second, Petitioners claim that Respondent may not separately allege negligence and intentional torts based on the

same conduct. See Pet'rs' Br. at 11, 12.

These contentions misstate the application of the Torts Claim Act and ignore the basic pleading standards for mental states. The Torts Claim Act states that political subdivisions are liable for their employees' negligent acts unless they were implementing and acting in furtherance of a method of providing police or law enforcement protection. Furthermore, this Court allows plaintiffs who have asserted negligence claims against a law enforcement officer to pursue independent claims for assault, battery, or other common law intentional torts even if the claims arise from the same facts as the negligence claims. Neiswonger v. Hennessey, 215 W. Va. 749, 753, 601 S.E.2d 69 (2004).

The third issue is whether the Charles Town Defendants should be liable under the theory of Common Law Battery. It should be noted that the Ranson Defendants did not move for dismissal for the allegations of battery and assault against Officer Meacham and Officer Hosby-Brown. The Charles Town Defendants fail to address liability for Sergeant Spessert's omission - failing to intervene while Respondent was subject to unnecessary and excessive force.

The last issue on appeal is whether Charles Town and Ranson are vicariously liable for the actions or omissions of Chief Roper and Chief Kutcher. Considering the heightened duty which applies law enforcement and the factual allegations in the Amended

Complaint, it is reasonable to infer that Chief Roper and Chief Kutcher were negligent in the training or supervision of the Defendant Officers.

Petitioners' conclusory statements regarding intentional acts, liability for negligence, and respondent superior are insufficient to meet their burden of proving Respondent cannot recover under any legally cognizable claim.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure, Respondent submits that oral argument is unnecessary as both parties waive oral argument, the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided by this Honorable Court, and the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the briefs and record on appeal. If the Court, in its discretion, determines that oral argument would be appropriate, Respondent believes that this case would be suitable for Rule 19 argument as a case involving assignments of error in the application of settled law. West Virginia R.A.P. 19(a)(1). Additionally, Respondent suggests that affirmance of the Circuit Court by memorandum decision would be appropriate. West Virginia R.A.P. 21(a).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. De Novo Standard.

"[A] circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss that is

predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the 'collateral order' doctrine" and reviewed de novo. W. Virginia Bd. of Educ. v. Marple, 236 W. Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015) (citing Syl. Pt. 4, Ewing v. Bd. of Educ. of Cnty. of Summers, 202 W. Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998)).

B. Rule 12(b)(6) Standard.

To survive a motion to dismiss, Respondent's complaint "must do nothing more than ... contain[] a short and plain statement of a claim showing that the plaintiff is entitled to relief." Gable v. Gable, 245 W. Va. 213, 213, 858 S.E.2d 838, 846 (2021). Petitioners bear the burden of showing that no legally cognizable claim for relief exists. Gable, 245 W. Va. at 213, 858 S.E.2d at 846.

The Court "should view the motion to dismiss with disfavor, should presume that all of the plaintiff's factual allegations are true, and should construe those facts and the inferences arising from those facts in the light most favorable to the plaintiff." Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., 160 W. Va. 530, 538, 236 S.E.2d 207, 212 (1977). "[D]ismissal for failure to state a claim is only proper where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations in the complaint." Marple, 236 W. Va. at 660, 783 S.E.2d at 81.

C. Pleading Standard.

Generally, "heightened pleading" is required in actions implicating immunities. Hutchinson v. City of Huntington, 198 W. Va. 139, 149, 479 S.E.2d 649, 659 (1996). However, this standard is not absolute as "[a] plaintiff is not required to anticipate the defense of immunity in his complaint[.]" Hutchinson, 198 W. Va. at 150, 479 S.E.2d at 660 (citing Gomez v. Toledo, 446 U.S. 635, 640, 100 S.Ct. 1920, 1923-24 (1980)). "Hutchinson makes clear that there is a panoply of procedural tools available to trial courts ... tools far gentler than the punitive act of dismissal." Gable, 245 W. Va. at 213, 858 S.E.2d at 848 n. 6 (2021). "[I]nstead of mandating dismissal, the Court in Hutchinson offered remedies for situations where a public entity or official asserts immunity in an answer but the plaintiff has failed to file a 'heightened pleading[.]'" Doe v. Logan County Board of Education, 242 W. Va. 45, 50, 829 S.E.2d 45,

Hutchinson set forth the requirement that a plaintiff be provided an opportunity to address an assertion of immunity. C.C. v. Harrison Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 859 S.E.2d 762, 782 n.1 (W. Va. 2021) (Armstead, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). However, if the information within the pleadings is sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss, the motion should be denied. Hutchinson, 198 W. Va. at 150, 479 S.E.2d at 660.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Whenever a defendant asserts the defense of qualified immunity in a motion to dismiss, steps have been outlined for determining whether qualified immunity applies to the specific circumstances of that particular case. W. Virginia Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. Estate of Grove, 244 W. Va. 273, 852 S.E.2d 773, 783 (2020). The steps include, whether:

- (1) a state agency or employee is involved;
- (2) there is an insurance contract waiving the defense of qualified immunity;
- (3) the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code § 29-12A-1 et seq. would apply;
- (4) the matter involves discretionary judgments, decisions, and/or actions;
- (5) the acts or omissions are in violation of clearly established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have known or are otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive; and
- (6) the State employee was acting within his/her scope of employment.

Estate of Grove, 244 W. Va. 273, 852 S.E.2d at 783 (citing W. Virginia Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014)).

Here, steps one, two, and six are undisputed. There is no insurance contract waiving the defense of qualified immunity and the Officer Defendants were acting within the scope of their employment as employees of Ranson and Charles Town. See Pet'rs' Br. at 27. The rest of Respondent's brief will address Petitioners' four assignments of error.

1. The Circuit Court correctly concluded that the Officer Defendants were not entitled to qualified immunity.

The Circuit Court correctly determined that the Defendant Officers are not entitled to qualified immunity. The Circuit Court reasoned that the Amended Complaint sufficiently alleged that the Defendant officers were fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive during the arrest and that the arrest exceeded Fourth Amendment standards. West Virginia's immunity standards require allegations that a public official, who is acting within the scope of his authority, is not covered by the provisions of the Torts Claim Act or entitled to qualified immunity. State v. Chase Sec., 188 W. Va. 356, 364, 365, 424 S.E.2d 591, 599, 600 (1992).

A. Respondent sufficiently alleged that the Officer Defendants' actions were fraudulent, malicious, or otherwise oppressive.

West Virginia's qualified immunity standard requires allegations that the Petitioners either (1) "engaged in fraudulent, malicious, or intentional wrongdoing" or, alternatively, (2) "committed discretionary governmental acts or omissions in violation of clearly established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have known." Estate of Grove, 244 W. Va. at 273, 852 S.E.2d at 783.

Petitioners misstate the applicable immunity standard by

claiming Respondent "failed to make the required showing of affirmatively proving his rights were violated in malicious or oppressive manner." See Pet'rs' Br. at 16. The Circuit Court applied the correct standard, i.e., "whether [Respondent] sufficiently alleged the [Petitioners] had ... engaged in conduct that was otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive." Estate of Grove, 244 W. Va. at 273, 852 S.E.2d at 783.

Here, Respondent sufficiently alleged that the Petitioners' actions were "fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive." App. at 136.

B. Respondent sufficiently alleged that the Defendant Officers' acts or omissions were with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner.

The Officer Defendants cannot be liable for their actions unless one of the conditions provided by the Torts Claim Act applies:

- His or her acts or omissions were manifestly outside the scope of employment or official responsibilities;
- (2) His or her acts or omissions were with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner; or
- (3) Liability is expressly imposed upon the employee by a provision of this code.

W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(b) (2022).

West Virginia Code § 29-12A-5(b) requires the pleading of malicious intent or wanton or reckless acts.

Here, it is undisputed that the acts of the Officer Defendants were not manifestly outside the scope of their employment. However, Petitioners incorrectly claim "[t]here are no factual allegations contained in the Amended Complaint to support a finding that the Officer Defendants ... performed acts or omissions which were with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner." See Pet'rs' Br. at 31.

Regarding Officer Meacham, it cannot be claimed that Officer Meacham acted in good faith. Prior to warning Respondent for cursing, Officer Meacham stated, "around here, you keep running your fucking mouth like that, it's not going to end well for you." App. at 135. Officer Meacham further stated, "You're going to fucking jail. And the hospital first." Id. Following the arrest, Officer Meacham yelled the following:

Stop fucking around. I'm not fucking with you. I am fucking done with you, do you understand? I am not picking up your shit and if you don't walk over to my fucking cruiser, I'm going to drag your ass and throw you in the back, do you understand? I'm fucking done with you.

Id.

Officer Meacham arrested Respondent for the exact same conduct he was engaging in himself. Furthermore, after the arrest, Officer Meacham continued to engage in the same conduct and "add[ed] DUI ... because he[was] running his mouth." Id. at 136. In no way can it

plausibly be claimed that Officer Meacham acted in good faith.

Additionally, it cannot be claimed that Officer Meacham acted in good faith when he used excessive force against an individual that was "not combative." *Id.* Allowing a claim of good faith when no force was warranted would permit the use of excessive force by law enforcement without justification.

Furthermore, this Court has defined "malicious" as "[c]haracterized by, or involving, malice; having, or done with, wicked, evil or mischievous intentions or motives; wrongful and done intentionally without just cause or excuse or as a result of ill will." State v. Burgess, 205 W.Va. 87, 89, 516 S.E.2d 491, 493 (1999) (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 958 (6th ed.1990)).

The definition of malice renders Petitioners' claims regarding Officer Meacham Officer Hosby-Brown, Sergeant Spessert, and Officer Kent without merit. Officer Meacham admitted to charging Respondent for DUI without just cause. While Respondent was handcuffed in the back of the cruiser, asking for medical assistance, Officer Hosby-Brown stated the following:

You're an asshole, you know that? Fuck you. Since you doing all that, fuck you. Shut the fuck up. You the bitch.

App. at 136.

When Respondent requested medical assistance for his injuries,

Officer Kent responded by threatening to slam him on the ground again, stating:

"You're going to go again if you don't shut up."

Id.

On their face, these Defendant Officers' actions were performed with sinister or improper motives. Respondent has sufficiently plead facts to show that they are not entitled to immunity pursuant to W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(b).

2. The Circuit Court did not err in ruling that the City of Ranson and City of Charles Town were subject to liability under respondent superior.

The Circuit Court properly concluded that political subdivisions are liable for the individual, negligent acts of their employees and that Respondent may separately allege negligence and intentional torts from the same conduct. App. at 270, 274. In Petitioners second, third, and fourth assignments of error, they argue political subdivisions are immune against negligence and intentional tort claims and that "Respondents' claims essentially intentional tort claims" and he is "attempting to disguise the same as negligence claims." See Pet'rs' Br. at 11-12. The Circuit Court properly concluded that political subdivisions are liable for the individual, negligent acts of their employees and that Respondent may separately allege negligence

intentional torts from the same conduct.

. . ,

Petitioners' argument is incorrect for two reasons. First, political subdivisions are liable for the individual, negligent acts of their employees. Second, Respondent was required to plead and permitted to generally aver negligent and intentional acts or omissions.

A. <u>Charles Town and Ranson are liable for their</u> <u>employees' "negligently-caused dangerous and</u> <u>injurious conditions."</u>

The construction of the Torts Claim Act is "clear and straightforward." Charles Town and Ranson are liable under the liability-creating provisions of W. Va. Code § 29-12A-4(c)(2) for the "negligent acts" of the Defendant Officers. Furthermore, the immunity-creating provision in W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5) is narrowly construed, i.e., Charles Town and Ranson are liable for the "negligently-caused dangerous and injurious conditions" created by their respective Officers' negligent acts.

"[T]he general rule of construction in governmental tort legislation cases favors liability, not immunity." State v. Sanders, 224 W. Va. 630, 633, 687 S.E.2d 568, 571 (2009). The Torts Claim Act's purpose was to "limit liability of political subdivisions and provide immunity to political subdivisions in certain instances[.]" W. Va. Code § 29-12A-1 (2022). Those "certain instances" are enumerated in W. Va. Code § 29-12-5(a).

Specifically, Petitioners rely on the section providing that municipalities are "immune from liability ... [that] results from ... the failure to provide, or the method of providing, police [or] law enforcement ... protection." W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(5) (2022).

. . . .

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